FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/13/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/13/2023 12:41 PM

No. 102553-0

SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 84532-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

KRISTIN N. HARPER.

Respondent,

and

BENJAMIN STONER-DUNCAN,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH G●●DFRIEND, P.S.

By: Valerie Villacin WSBA No. 34515

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Petitioner

A. Identity of Petitioner.

Petitioner is Benjamin Stoner-Duncan, appellant in the Court of Appeals.

B. Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' August 21, 2023 decision (App. A: "Op _") affirming the trial court's decision confirming an arbitration award in a marriage dissolution action. Respondent Kristin Harper was awarded 81% of the actually divisible marital estate because the arbitrator valued and awarded to petitioner his medical degree/earning capacity as an asset and failed to account for petitioner's \$171,000 obligation to respondent, which the arbitrator ordered him to pay to compensate respondent for petitioner's outstanding student loans, in the property division. The Court of Appeals denied petitioner's timely motion for reconsideration on October 12, 2023. (App. B)

C. Issues Presented for Review.

- 1. Does the Court of Appeals' holding that the arbitrator did not exceed her powers by valuing husband's medical degree/earning capacity and awarding it to him as an asset conflict with decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals that professional degrees and future earning capacity cannot be treated as assets in a marriage dissolution action?
- 2. Does the Court of Appeals' holding that whether an arbitration award dividing the parties' marital estate should be vacated for a facial legal error "must be analyzed in light of whether it rendered the property distribution as a whole unjust and inequitable" conflict with decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals that an error of law apparent on the face of an arbitration award is grounds for vacation, and forbidding reviewing courts from considering the merits of the arbitration decision?

D. Statement of the Case.

1. Having both earned post-graduate degrees during their 17-year relationship, the parties separated when they were 40.

Petitioner Benjamin Stoner-Duncan and respondent Kristin Harper were age 40 when Harper filed for dissolution of the parties' marriage on March 11, 2021. (*See* CP 1, 68-69) Prior to their marriage in June 2008, the parties were in a committed intimate relationship starting in December 2003. (CP 281) They have two children: a son born April 2004 (now an adult) and a daughter born May 2010. (CP 68)

Both parties obtained post-graduate degrees during their relationship. Harper earned her Master of Public Health ("MPH") in global epidemiology and a Doctorate ("PhD") in genetics and microbiology from Emory University in May 2008, after which she worked as a postdoc at Columbia University. (CP 69, 94) Stoner-Duncan completed his undergraduate degree by the end of

2004 (CP 70) and attended Columbia University for a fifth year of college in 2008, studying organic chemistry and physics. (See CP 71, 76-77)

In 2010, Stoner-Duncan began attending medical school at Columbia University. (CP 77, 97) Harper completed her postdoctoral research in 2013 and started a company, Harper Health and Science Communication LLC, where she still works as a freelance medical writer and editor; her clients include the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, Medscape, the World Health Organization, the National Institute of Health, and assorted academic groups. (See CP 80, 94, 118)

The parties moved to Washington after Stoner-Duncan graduated from medical school in 2014 for his four-year residency in emergency medicine at the University of Washington. (CP 72, 78) After completing his residency in 2018, Stoner-Duncan worked as an independent contractor at Northwest Hospital for the

remainder of that year, earning approximately \$100,000. (CP 72) Starting in 2019, Stoner-Duncan became a salaried employee at Northwest Hospital. (CP 72) By 2020, Stoner-Duncan was earning approximately \$312,000 annually (CP 123), while Harper's business earned \$178,000 (CP 118), with annual compensation to her of \$138,000. (CP 96)

2. The arbitrator sought to "reimburse" the community for its support of husband obtaining his medical degree.

On January 4, 2022, the parties agreed to submit their disputes to Cheryll Russell for binding arbitration under RCW ch. 7.04A. (CP 18-21) Ms. Russell ("the arbitrator") issued her arbitration decision on May 30, 2022. (CP 136) After Stoner-Duncan moved for reconsideration, the arbitrator issued an additional decision on August 12, 2022. (CP 196)

The arbitrator found "the community invested 10 years into [Stoner-Duncan] completing a fifth year before entering medical school, attending medical school, and

completing his residency including his lap year, but realized income of nearly 3 years from the time he completed his residency until the parties separated." (CP 123) The arbitrator stated the community should be reimbursed for its support of Stoner-Duncan's medical degree through both the property division and maintenance to Harper. (CP 123)

a. The arbitrator awarded wife maintenance, worth \$390,000, for seventy-eight months.

The arbitrator found that an award of maintenance to Harper was a "reasonable and appropriate way to compensate her for the income she has foregone and the financial gain [Stoner-Duncan] will enjoy" as a result of the community's support of Stoner-Duncan's medical degree. (CP 103) The arbitrator awarded Harper monthly maintenance of \$5,000 for 78 months, totaling \$390,000, effectively equalizing the parties' incomes, as found by the arbitrator. (See CP 104, 139)

b. The arbitrator valued husband's medical degree/earning capacity at \$472,000 and awarded it to him as an asset.

The arbitrator also stated her intent to compensate Harper through an award of property by valuing Stoner-Duncan's medical degree/earning capacity and including it as a community asset in the property division. (*See* CP 123-24, 166) The arbitrator valued Stoner-Duncan's medical degree/earning capacity at \$472,000—the amount she believed Stoner-Duncan would earn in 2028, based on an assumption (not supported by the record) that Stoner-Duncan's annual income will increase by \$20,000 every year. (*See* CP 166)

c. The arbitrator ordered husband to pay wife \$171,000 to compensate her for a student loan that was rolled into the mortgage against the family home awarded to her.

The arbitrator valued the family home at \$970,000, with a mortgage balance of \$389,043. (CP 114, 197) The parties had refinanced the mortgage in 2020. (CP 81, 131)

At the time of the refinance, the parties rolled the \$171,000 that they still owed on Stoner-Duncan's medical school loans into the mortgage, which "lowered the combined payments" for both the mortgage and student loan. (CP 75, 131)

The arbitrator awarded the house to Harper but reasoned that "due to the mortgage being refinanced in July 2020 so [Stoner-Duncan] could roll his medical school loans into the mortgage, . . . awarding the house to [Harper] results in her paying off [Stoner-Duncan]'s medical school loans of \$171,000.00 while he keeps the long term benefit of his medical school education and license is neither just nor equitable." (CP 131) The arbitrator therefore made Stoner-Duncan responsible for this community debt and ordered him to pay \$171,000 to Harper, plus 4% interest, on or before August 1, 2027. (CP 183)

d. The arbitration decision resulted in husband being awarded only 19% of the marital estate, the value of which was less than his maintenance obligation.

The arbitrator attached a "Property Division Spreadsheet" to her arbitration award, which purportedly reflected a "just and equitable' distribution of all separate and community property and liabilities in this marriage dissolution proceeding." (See CP 193, 197-98) Among the assets included in the spreadsheet was Stoner-Duncan's "professional degree" valued at \$472,000. (CP 197) Omitted from the spreadsheet was the arbitrator's allocation to Stoner-Duncan of the obligation to pay the \$171,000 debt rolled into the mortgage against the house awarded to Harper. (See CP 197)

By including Stoner-Duncan's medical degree in the property awarded to him and excluding the \$171,000 obligation owed by him to Harper, the arbitrator's decision appeared to be a nearly equal division of the marital estate:

	Harper	Stoner- Duncan
House	\$970,000	
Mortgage		
(inc. \$171,000		
student loan)	(\$389,043)	
Holmes Island (SP)		\$14,500
Medical degree		\$472,000
Harper Health	\$41,000	
Bank accounts	\$31,126	\$59,993
Investment accounts	\$24,786	\$63,223
Retirement accounts	<u>\$221,352</u>	<u>\$284,658</u>
Total	\$899,221	\$894,374
	50.1%	49.9%

(CP 197-98) But 53% of Stoner-Duncan's purported half of the marital estate consisted of the value of his medical degree. If the medical degree is removed from the calculation and Stoner-Duncan's obligation to pay \$171,000 to Harper is included, the property division leaves Harper with over four times more assets than Stoner-Duncan:

	Harper	Stoner- Duncan
House	\$970,000	
Mortgage		
(inc. \$171,000		
student loan)	(\$389,043)	
Holmes Island (SP)		\$14,500
Medical-degree		\$472,000
Harper Health	\$41,000	
Bank accounts	\$31,126	\$59,993
Investment accounts	\$24,786	\$63,223
Retirement accounts	\$221,352	\$284,658
Judgment	\$171,000	<u>(\$171,000)</u>
Total	\$1,070,221	\$251,374
	81%	19%

3. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's order denying husband's motion to vacate or modify the arbitration award.

On September 8, 2022, King County Superior Court Judge Sean O'Donnell ("the trial court") denied Stoner-Duncan's motion to vacate or modify the arbitration award. (CP 253-55) On November 7, 2022, the trial court entered final orders consistent with the arbitration award. (CP 279, 297) The final divorce order and findings appended the spreadsheet that had been attached to the arbitration

award that was filed on reconsideration. (*Compare* CP 197-98 *with* CP 287-88, 306-07)

Stoner-Duncan appealed the trial court's order confirming the arbitration award arguing that the arbitration award, which leaves him with a property award worth \$251,374 (19% of the marital estate) and a \$390,000, 78-month maintenance obligation after a 17year relationship (13 years married), was based on a "legal error" and/or "mathematical miscalculation" warranting vacation or modification under RCW 7.04A.230 or RCW 7.04A.240. Stoner-Duncan argued that under this Court's decision in *Marriage of Hall*, 103 Wn.2d 236, 247-48, 692 P.2d 175 (1984), the arbitrator exceeded her powers by valuing his degree/earning capacity and treating it as an asset in the property division and that the omission of his obligation to pay the \$171,000 student loan community debt in the property division spreadsheet artificially inflated his share of the marital estate.

Division One affirmed the arbitrator's decision, holding that "the arbitrator acted within their powers when considering Stoner-Duncan's degree." (Op. 16) Division recognized that including Stoner-Duncan's One degree/earning capacity as an asset, and omitting his obligation to pay \$171,000 to Harper, from the spreadsheet did not provide a "complete view of the parties assets and liabilities at the end of the dissolution process," but held "the asserted error must be analyzed in light of whether it rendered the property distribution as a whole unjust and inequitable." (Op. 20) Because Division One determined that "the arbitrator's decision as a whole is just and equitable. We find neither mathematical error nor an error of law." (Op. 21)

Despite not specifically requesting an award of attorney fees under RCW 7.04A.250, Division One awarded Harper attorney fees on appeal. (Op. 21-22) Stoner-Duncan moved for reconsideration, asking Division

One to exercise its discretion to deny attorney fees to Harper under the statute. Division One denied reconsideration. (App. B)

E. Reasons for Granting Review.

1. Division One's decision holding that the arbitrator did "not exceed their statutory powers" by assigning a monetary value to husband's degree/earning capacity and awarding it to him conflicts with decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals.

Division One's decision that the arbitrator "acted within their powers" by assigning a value to husband's degree/earning capacity and awarding it to him as an asset conflicts with decisions from this Court and published decisions from the Court of Appeals holding that neither professional degrees nor future earning capacity may be treated as an asset in dividing the marital estate, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). See Marriage of Hall, 103 Wn.2d 236, 247-48, 692 P.2d 175 (1984); Marriage of Leland, 69 Wn. App. 57, 72, 847 P.2d

518, rev. denied, 121 Wn.2d 1033 (1993); Fernau v. Fernau, 39 Wn. App. 695, 707, 694 P.2d 1092 (1984); Marriage of Anglin, 52 Wn. App. 317, 320, 759 P.2d 1224 (1988); Marriage of Rockwell, 141 Wn. App. 235, 248, ¶23, 170 P.3d 572 (2007), rev. denied, 163 Wn.2d 1055 (2008); see also Brewer v. Brewer, 137 Wn.2d 756, 774, 976 P.2d 102 (1999) (concurrence).

This Court first addressed treatment of professional degrees and future earning capacity in *Washburn v. Washburn*, 101 Wn.2d 168, 178, 677 P.2d 152 (1984), where it held that when "a person supports a spouse through professional school in the mutual expectation of future financial benefit to the community, but the marriage ends before that benefit can be realized, that circumstance is a 'relevant factor' which must be considered in making a fair and equitable division of property and liabilities pursuant to RCW 26.09.080, or a just award of maintenance pursuant to RCW 26.09.090." However, this Court

specifically declined to address "the somewhat metaphysical question of whether a professional degree is 'property" that should be valued and divided. 101 Wn.2d at 176. In fact, the single justice who dissented in *Washburn* did so precisely because of the majority's refusal to characterize a professional degree "as a marital asset," the value of which is to be "measured by the increased earning capacity inherent in the particular education and as such is subject to a just and equitable distribution." 101 Wn.2d at 184 (Justice Rosellini dissenting).

Ten months later, in *Hall*, this Court chose to address the "the somewhat metaphysical question of whether a professional degree is 'property'" that it avoided in *Washburn* by holding that a spouse's future earning capacity, like a professional degree, is not an asset that can be valued and used to offset an award of other assets. 103 Wn.2d at 247-48. This Court noted that while "treatment of future earning capacity as a distinct marital asset has

been advocated" in other jurisdictions, our courts have "declined to treat it as such." 103 Wn.2d at 247. Thus, while this Court recognized that future earning capacity is a "substantial factor" to be considered by the trial court in making a just and equitable distribution of property, this Court refused "to find that future earning potential" of the wife (who like husband here was a salaried physician) "is an asset which can be used to offset goodwill" of the husband, who was a one-third partner in a cardiology clinic. 103 Wn.2d at 248.

Within a week of this Court's decision in *Hall*, the Court of Appeals issued its own decision rejecting a wife's contention that her husband's "degree should be disposed of as if it were property, analogous to a home, business, or pension" in *Fernau*, 39 Wn. App. at 707. The Court held that the trial court properly compensated the wife for the community's support to the husband in obtaining his medical degree by awarding her maintenance for a

maximum of two years so she could "obtain an equal educational opportunity with the financial support" of the husband. 39 Wn. App. at 707.

Since this Court's decision in Hall, our courts have consistently held that "[e]arning capacity is not a divisible asset, although it is a factor to be considered when dividing the community and separate property in a dissolution proceeding." Leland, 69 Wn. App. at 72; see Anglin, 52 Wn. App. at 320 ("Future earning potential, although a factor to be considered by the trial court in determining a just and equitable division of property, is not an asset to be divided between the spouses"); Brewer, 137 Wn.2d at 774 (concurrence) ("Future, post-dissolution earnings ... are not 'assets' which are before the court for disposition in a dissolution action"). The Court in Rockwell, for instance, specifically held that this Court's decision in Hall "forbids treating earning capacity as a present asset, placing it among other community assets, and dividing it as property." 141 Wn. App. at 248, ¶23.

In affirming the order confirming the arbitration award, Division One reasoned that the arbitrator merely considered husband's degree/earning capacity as a "factor" in dividing the property, as allowed by *Hall*. (Op. 17) However, the arbitrator did more than consider husband's degree/earning capacity as a "factor" - she expressly valued it and awarded it to him as an asset.

The face of the arbitrator's original award states, "the issue presented is not whether [husband]'s medical degree has value but what value should be assigned to it." (CP 123) "[T]his Arbitrator FINDS it is just and equitable to assign a value of \$542,500 to [husband]'s degree..." (CP 124, emphasis in original) While the arbitrator reduced the value of husband's degree/earning capacity on reconsideration, she reiterated her intent to treat it as an asset, by asserting that she "FINDS there is a basis to

consider [husband]'s earning capacity and to assign a value..." (CP 166) The arbitrator "FINDS it is just and equitable to reconsider the value allocated to his medical degree and license in the May 30, 2022 Arbitration Decision and to lower the value to \$472,000.00." (CP 166, emphasis in original)

Division One nevertheless reasoned that "assign[ing] a monetary value to the degree" was merely a "heuristic" used by the arbitrator "to equitably weigh property distribution to Harper by accounting for Stoner-Duncan's future earning potential." (Op. 16) Division One stated that the arbitration award's spreadsheet, which identified and valued husband's "professional degree" as an asset and placed it on husband's side of the ledger (CP 197), was merely "used to illustrate the arbitrator's thought process." (Op. 20)

The spreadsheet was more than the "arbitrator's thought process." The arbitrator described the spreadsheet

identifying "all property, both community and separate," subject to "division between the parties" (CP 131) and the allocation therein as a "just and equitable' distribution of all separate and community property and liabilities in this marriage dissolution proceeding" and directed the spreadsheet "be incorporated into the Decree and the Findings and Conclusions." (CP 193) In incorporating the spreadsheet, the Decree lists "Husband's professional degree and license" among the "personal property" awarded to husband (CP 300) and the Findings and Conclusions refers to the spreadsheet in identifying the parties' property and debts. (CP 281-82, 287-96) The spreadsheet thus reflected not "the arbitrator's thought process," but her actual intent to award husband's degree/earning capacity to him, which was then "used to offset" property awarded to wife, which *Hall* forbids. 103 Wn.2d at 248; *Rockwell*, 141 Wn. App. at 248, ¶23.

In Marriage of Zahm, 138 Wn.2d 213, 978 P.2d 498 (1999), for instance, this Court addressed social security benefits, which like earning capacity and professional degrees, is not an asset "subject to division in a marital property distribution case" 138 Wn.2d at 219, but a "factor" that can be considered when evaluating "the economic circumstances of the spouses" in making a just and equitable division of assets. 138 Wn.2d at 223. This Court in Zahm held the trial court erred in characterizing the social security benefits as community property but deemed the error harmless because the trial court did "not impermissibly calculate a specific formal valuation of petitioner's social security benefits and award respondent a precise property offset based on that valuation but, rather, merely considered those benefits when determining parties' the relative economic circumstances at dissolution." 138 Wn.2d at 222.

The arbitrator here committed the error of law that the trial court in *Zahm* avoided. The arbitrator did not merely consider husband's degree/earning capacity as a factor in making a just and equitable division of the marital estate; she "impermissibly calculate[d] a specific formal valuation" of his degree/earning capacity and then awarded wife "a precise property offset based on that valuation." *See Zahm*, 138 Wn.2d at 222. (*See* CP 197)

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