FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/13/2023 2:35 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1025530

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

KRISTIN N. HARPER,

Respondent,

and

BENJAMIN STONER-DUNCAN,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SHARON J. BLACKFORD

SHARON BLACKFORD PLLC 600 Stewart Street, Suite 400 Seattle, Washington 98101 sharon@washingtonappellatelaw.com Telephone: 206) 459-0441

III. ARGUMENTS AGAINST REVIEW

1. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court or any other division of the Court of Appeals. The cases upon which Stoner-Duncan relies to establish grounds for acceptance of review do not avail him. He overgeneralizes holdings, ignores strongly worded holdings favoring Harper, and relies upon inapposite cases concerning social security benefits, loss of probable future inheritance, and disability insurance benefits. This case does not satisfy the criteria for acceptance of review.

Stoner-Duncan asserts that *Hall* bars any enumeration of the value of a spouse's future earning capacity due to a professional degree. Petition at 16-17. This overstates the holding of *Hall*. Summing up its

reasoning, *Hall* emphasized the limited nature of its holding:

Once again we emphasize the importance of consideration of future earning potential. We decline to find that future earning potential is an asset which can be used to offset goodwill. [Emphasis added.] Instead, we hold that it is a substantial factor to be considered by the trial court in making a just and equitable property distribution. On remand, the trial court should articulate its reasoning in taking into account this substantial factor.

Marriage of Hall, 103 Wn.2d 236, 248, 692 P.2d 175 (1984). While Stoner-Duncan characterizes Hall as forbidding the use of future earning capacity as an asset used to offset the award of other assets, Hall only disapproves of its use to offset goodwill, not all assets, as Stoner-Duncan argues. 103 Wn.2d at 248.

Stoner-Duncan complains that the arbitrator articulated their reasoning for taking into account the substantial factor of future earning capacity, as Hall directs be done. Petition at 23. The arbitrator did not specifically use it to offset goodwill, which Hall prohibits.

Stoner-Duncan's position appears to be that his future earning capacity should not be considered or balanced in any way, using neither property nor maintenance. See Petition at 32. While he criticizes the arbitrator's handling of his substantial future earning capacity, he does not suggest in what equitable way his future earnings should be considered. Instead, he has consistently argued that no value should be placed on his medical education and the future earnings flowing from that education. CP 160. Stoner-Duncan does not establish a conflict with any Washington case, nor does he suggest a reasonable way to harmonize the cases he cites to reach an outcome that takes into account the substantial factor of future earning capacity, as Hall requires.

Stoner-Duncan relies upon *Marriage of Leland*, 69 Wn. App. 57, 72, 847 P.2d 518, *rev. denied*, 121 Wn.2d 1033 (1993) for the general principle that "[e]arning capacity is not a divisible asset, although it is a factor to be

considered when dividing the community and separate property in a dissolution proceeding." Petition at 18.

[citing Hall at Wn.2d 236, 247-48.] Yet Leland goes on to note that "[a]n able bodied spouse leaves a dissolved marriage with his or her earning capacity intact, and his or her former spouse has no property interest in that earning capacity." Leland, 69 Wn. App. at 72. The Arbitrator acknowledged this language in Leland, finding they nevertheless have the power to consider Stoner-Duncan's earning capacity as an asset. CP 166.

Stoner-Duncan's interpretation of *Leland* fails to harmonize with the arbitrator's power and responsibility to do equity when one spouse has sacrificed their earning capacity to put a student spouse through school, as explained by our Supreme Court in *Washburn v*. *Washburn*, 101 Wn.2d 168, 677 P.2d 152 (1984). Further, *Leland* is inapposite. *Leland* did not concern a student spouse; in *Leland*, the question is "whether a disability

insurance policy is properly treated in the same manner as a term life insurance policy for purposes of characterizing the ownership of the policy proceeds." 69 Wn. App at 72.

Leland did not take the hard line Stoner-Duncan suggests. Rather than hewing to a rigid rule that earning capacity is not a divisible asset, the Leland court arrived at an "equitable result" that post-age 65 disability payments, while they are "designed to protect against the risk of loss of the insured's future earning capacity," (Id. at 72) can be characterized in the nature of a pension in which the marital community retains an interest. Id. at 73.

In so doing, *Leland* took into account many equitable factors, including the tax status of the amount at issue, the time frame in which the husband's post-dissolution obligations will be completed, the duration of child support, the wife's ability to acquire retirement

benefits, and the parties' respective future earning capacities. *Id.* at 75. No hard line rule limits the court's or Arbitrator's ability to do equity in cases like the one at bar. Rather, *Leland* follows Washington caselaw and policy by prioritizing the trial court/arbitrator's obligation to do equity in the unique circumstances of each case rather than blindly follow inflexible dogma, just as the Arbitrator did in this case. The Arbitrator correctly fashioned an equitable result given the facts of the instant case and the trial court correctly confirmed the Arbitrator's decision.

Stoner-Duncan gives short shrift to the policy set forth by our Supreme Court in *Washburn* that the supporting spouse should be compensated "through a division of property and liabilities" and/or a just award of maintenance. *Washburn*, 101 Wn.2d at 178:

When one spouse supports the other through professional school in the mutual expectation that the community will enjoy the financial benefit flowing from the resulting professional degree, but the marriage is dissolved before that benefit can be realized, should the supporting spouse be compensated? Our answer is yes. The contribution of the supporting spouse to the attainment of a professional degree by the student spouse is a factor to be considered in dividing property and liabilities pursuant to RCW 26.09.080, or in awarding maintenance pursuant to RCW 26.09.090. The *Washburn* court failed to consider Mrs. Washburn's contribution to her husband's education in any respect. We thus reverse and remand for consideration the appropriate compensation due Mrs. Washburn.

Id. at 170. *Washburn* held it was error for the trial court to "decline[] to characterize Mr. Washburn's degree as property, and refuse[] to admit expert testimony which would have established the value of the degree through comparison of Mr. Washburn's earning potentials with and without it." *Id.* at 161.

Because the student spouse leaves the marriage with "the degree and the increased earning potential that it represents, while the supporting spouse has only a dissolution decree" *Id.* at 173-74, "that circumstance is a

'relevant factor' which <u>must</u> be considered in making a fair and equitable division of property and liabilities pursuant to RCW 26.09.080, or a just award of maintenance pursuant to RCW 26.09.090. A professional degree confers high earning potential upon the holder. The student spouse should not walk away with this valuable advantage without compensating the person who helped him or her obtain it." *Id.* at 178. [Emphasis added.]

Washburn consistently emphasizes the broad discretionary powers of the trial court, noting "[w]e are reluctant to encroach upon this discretion by providing a precise formula prescribing the amount of property to be distributed... to the supporting spouse." *Id.* at 179. [Emphasis added.]

Washburn directs trial courts to consider a long list of factors when "determining the proper amount of compensation for the supporting spouse..." including the amount of community property expended for educational

costs, the amount the community would have earned had the efforts of the student spouse not been directed toward their studies, any educational or career opportunities which the supporting spouse gave up in order to support the student spouse, or move to where the student spouse wished to attend school, the future earning prospects of each spouse, including the earning potential of the student spouse with the professional degree. *Id.* at 179-80. [Emphasis added.] The arbitrator properly and carefully considered these factors.

Stoner-Duncan's reliance on *Fernau v. Fernau*, 39 Wn. App. 695, 707, 694 P.2d 1092 (1984) is similarly misplaced. While Stoner-Duncan cites *Fernau* for the proposition that the Arbitrator lacks authority to award a professional degree or earning capacity as a tangible asset (Petition at 17), *Fernau* actually says something very different. The *Fernau* wife argued on appeal that the trial court is <u>required</u> to explicitly determine the value of the

student spouse's medical degree, training, and increased earning capacity, and to award a portion of that amount to the supporting spouse with provisions for payment, disposing of it as if it were property analogous to a home, business, or pension. *Id.* at 708.

Understandably, the Court of Appeals declined to impose such a requirement on the trial court, holding only that the trial court must compensate the supporting spouse through the variety of options described in *Washburn*: "property division, maintenance, or a combination of both." *Fernau*, 39 Wn. App. at 707; *Washburn*, 101 Wn.2d 183-84.

While the Arbitrator found that Mr. Kessler projected that from 2021 through 2045 when Stoner-Duncan turns 65, the community would lose a total of \$5,425,000.00 of Stoner-Duncan's earnings, the Arbitrator found no caselaw supporting the award of such earnings. CP 122. The arbitrator thus did not award the

valuation of Stoner-Duncan's future earnings in the spreadsheet.

Noting that the community invested 10 years into Stoner-Duncan completing a fifth year before entering medical school, attending medical school, and completing his residency while only realizing income of 2-3 years before separation, the Arbitrator determined that the equitable amount to assign to Stoner-Duncan's degree/future earnings is 10% of Mr. Kessler's estimate, or \$542,500.00. CP 123. On reconsideration, the Arbitrator lowered that value to \$472,000.00. CP 166. Thus the arbitrator did not value Stoner-Duncan's future earnings and place that value on the spreadsheet; the arbitrator used a highly discounted figure as a heuristic for fair compensation to Harper for all she had sacrificed over many years and the academic career she gave up to obtain Stoner-Duncan's medical degree.

While Stoner-Duncan argues that *In re Marriage of Rockwell*, 141 Wn. App. 235, 170 P.3d 572, 578-79 (2007) supports his hard-line approach to consideration of future earnings, it does not. Petition at 18-19. *Rockwell* affirmed the trial court's consideration of the husband's future earning capacity of \$70,000/year for several years until retirement when formulating the overall property award. 170 P.3d 579.

Stoner-Duncan's reliance upon a concurrence to claim that *Brewer v. Brewer*, 137 Wn.2d 756, 976 P.2d 102 (1999) stands for the broad proposition that future, post-dissolution earnings are not assets which are before the court for disposition in a dissolution action is misplaced. The *Brewer* court said: "[t]he question presented in this case is whether monthly payments to a permanently disabled spouse under a private disability insurance policy after dissolution of a marriage constitutes separate property and not community

property, even though the policy was acquired during the marriage and premiums were waived by the issuing companies." 137 Wn.2d at 758. This bears little or no relationship to the instant case. In *Brewer*, this Court held that the arbitrator is free to allocate a disability payment however it believes is equitable. *Id.* at 768. The *Brewer* court's consistent emphasis is on the arbitrator's ability to do equity. *Id.* at 769. *Brewer* does not support review.

Stoner-Duncan relies heavily on *Marriage of Zahm*, 138 Wn.2d 213, 978 P.2d 498 (1999) (Petition 22-23), yet *Zahm* is inapposite and does not support review. *Zahm* says that Social Security benefits are not assets subject to division, just a factor for consideration, because federal law doesn't allow them to be divided: 42 U.S.C. § 407(a) of the Social Security Act (Act) and 42 U.S.C.A. § 659(i)(3)(B)(ii). *Zahm* does permit a trial court to consider a party's social security benefits when

determining the parties' relative economic circumstances at dissolution, under RCW 26.09.080. 978 P.2d at 503. *Zahm* does not support review.

Stoner-Duncan characterizes *Broom v. Morgan*Stanley DW Ins., 169 Wn.2d 231, 236 P.3d 182 (2010) as standing for the hard line that facial legal error, regardless of the merits of the resulting decision, is grounds for vacating an arbitration award because it constitutes an instance in which arbitrators exceed their powers. Petition at 25-6, 30. Yet Stoner-Duncan flatly misstates the language of *Broom* – nowhere does *Broom* say "regardless of the merits of the resulting decision."

Stoner-Duncan's reliance on *Broom* is misplaced and does not support review.

Similarly, Stoner-Duncan's reliance upon *Federated*Services v. Estate of Norberg, 101 Wn.App.119, 126, 4

P.3d 844 (2000) (Petition at 29-30) does not avail him.

While Norberg concerns a vacated arbitration award, the

Norberg court resorted to an extended discussion of the nature of survival actions going back to common law; its holding is solidly grounded within this legal context. 4 P.3d 847-849. This bears no resemblance to the case at bar and does not support review.

Contrary to Stoner-Duncan's skewed interpretations of Washburn, Hall, Fernau, and the other cases upon which he relies, the path our appellate courts have carefully marked out on this issue is that while the trial court or Arbitrator is not required to explicitly determine the value of future earnings and to award some portion of that amount to the supporting spouse as an heuristic for the consideration Hall and Washburn require be given to future earnings, the trial court or Arbitrator may do so if in their discretion equity requires it be done. The Arbitrator was well within their discretion to use a heuristic to value and allocate a small amount of the actual value of Stoner-Duncan's medical degree and

earning capacity, and the trial court properly refused to vacate the award on this basis.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly considered the face of the award in arriving at its holding.

Stoner-Duncan argues that this Court should grant review based upon a selective reading of the almost 100 pages of arbitration award comprising the "face" of the award. His claim that this Court should ignore those portions of the face of the award that explain the arbitrator's reasoning is without logic or basis in the law.

Stoner-Duncan's reliance upon *Morrell* to support his argument that the Court may not look at the entire face of the arbitration award does not avail him. In his petition, Stoner-Duncan discusses several cases in which the face of the award, including the equitable factors and circumstances set forth on the face of the award, were appropriately considered in fashioning a holding. The Court of Appeals did not err in so doing.

According to Stoner-Duncan, *Morrell* stands for the simple proposition that arbitrators exceed their powers when they assign an erroneous reason for their decision. Petition at 25, 28. But the appellate court in *Morrell* rejected the claim that the arbitrator had exceeded their powers because they assigned an erroneous reason for their decision. 178 P.3d 394. The takeaway from *Morrell* is that the "arbitrator's decision should be the end of dispute, not the beginning" at 178 P.3d 391.

The arbitrator here acted well within their powers, and the trial court correctly confirmed the carefully crafted award. This Court should deny review.

3. This Court should award Harper attorney fees for having to respond to this Petition. This Court may award Harper attorney fees for answering an unsuccessful petition for review. RAP 18.1(j); *Mainline Rock & Ballast, Inc., v. Barnes, Inc.*, 8 Wn. App.2d 594, 625-26, 439 P.3d 662, *rev. den.*, 193 Wn.2d 1033 (2019).

Stoner-Duncan has the ability to pay Harper's attorney fees based upon Stoner-Duncan's gross monthly income of \$27,703. Harper's gross monthly income is \$10,025. Slip. Op. at 3-4. Even accounting for the \$5,000/monthly maintenance Stoner-Duncan is currently paying Harper, his income still significantly exceeds hers and it is obvious that he can pay her attorney fees for answering this petition.

IV. CONCLUSION

This Court should decline Stoner-Duncan's petition for review because the Court of Appeals opinion upholding the arbitrator's and trial court's decisions conforms with Washington law and does not contradict any Washington case.

I certify that this pleading is in 14 point

Georgia font and contains 3,709 words, in

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